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JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
NATURE OF THE CASE
1. Plaintiffs allege herein a conspiracy among Defendants and certain

named and unnamed co-conspirators, to fix, maintain or stabilize the price of, and to rig
bids and allocate customers and markets for, Municipal Derivatives (as defined below)
sold in the United States and its territories.

2. Plaintiffs and Providgr Defendant Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank of
America”) have engaged in confidential discussions about some of the facts and
circumstances detailed in this Complaint over the {ast 23 months in the context of a
settlement process, including a number of sessions overseen by the Honorable Daniel
Weinstein (Ret.) of JAMS. Judge Weinstein is one of the nation’s preeminent mediators
of complex civil disputes. These discussions have been conducted pursuant to, inter alia,
an agreement that requires full and timely cooperation by Bank of America, which has
been received, subject to certain limitations. The information contained in this Complaint
comes in part from information obtained from Bank of America and in .part from

publicly-available information, including regulatory filings. The Bank of America has




supplied Plaintiffs with extensive information since the Court’s order of April 30, 2009
granting dismissal of the prior Complaint with leave to replead. That new information,
much of which Plaintiffs did not have before because of limitations formerly placed on
Bank of America’s cooperation by the United States Department of Justice’s (“DOJ”)
Antitrust Division, is reflected in this Complaint.

3. As explained below, Bank of America has received a conditional
leniency letter from the DOJ’s Antitrust Division. This fact, in and of itself, is significant.
It means that Bank of America is an admitted felon. It further means that Bank of
America is an admitted co-conspirator. The significance of obtaining a conditional
leniency. letter was explained by Scott D. Hammond, Deputy Assistant Attorney General
for Criminal Enforcement, in a November 19, 2008 presentation available on the DOJ’s
website at htip://www.usdoj.gov/atr/public/criminal/239583 . htm:

Does a leniency applicant have 1o admit fo a criminal
violation of the antitrust laws before receiving a
conditional leniency letter?

Yes. The Division's leniency policies were established for
corporations and individuals "reporting their illegal
antitrust activity," and the policies protect leniency
recipients from criminal conviction. Thus, the applicant
must admit its participation in a criminal antitrust violation
involving price fixing, bid rigging, capacity restriction, or
allocation of markets, customers, or sales or production
volumes before it will receive a conditional leniency letter.
Applicants that have not engaged in criminal violations of
the antitrust laws have no need to receive leniency
protection from a criminal violation and will receive no
benefit from the leniency program.

When the model corporate conditional leniency letter was
first drafted, the Division did not employ a marker system.
Thus, companies received conditional leniency letters far
earlier in the process, often before the company had an
opportunity to conduct an internal investigation. However,
the Division's practice has changed over time. The Division
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now employs a marker system, and the Division provides
the company with an opportunity to investigate thoroughly
its own conduct. While the applicant may not be able to
confirm that it committed a criminal antitrust violation
when it seeks and receives a marker, by the end of the
marker process, before it is provided with a conditional
leniency letter, it should be in a position to admit to its
participation in a criminal violation of the Sherman Act.
The Division may also insist on interviews with key
executives of the applicant who were involved in the
violation before issuing the conditional leniency letter. 4
company that argues that an agreement (o fix prices, rig
bids, restrict capacity, or allocate markets might be
inferred from its conduct but that cannot produce any
employees who will admit that the company entered into
such an agreement generally has not made a sufficient
admission of criminal antitrust violation to be eligible for
leniency. A company that, for whatever reason, is not able
or willing to admil to its participation in a criminal
antitrust conspiracy is not eligible for leniency. Previously
the model conditional leniency letters referred to the
conduct being reported as "possible [. . . price fixing, bid
rigging, market allocation| or other conduct violative of
Section 1 of the Sherman Act." (emphasis added). Because
applicants must report a criminal violation of the antitrust
laws before receiving a conditional leniency letter, the
word "possible" has been deleted from the model letter, and
a reference to "or other conduct constituting a criminal
violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act" has been added
to the model letters. (Emphases added.)

4. The DOJ, which is investigating anticompetitive practices in the
Municipal Derivatives sector, has prevented plaintiffs from obtaining certain
documentation of illegal conspiratorial conduct (including, but not limited to, the
audiotapes of conspiratorial conversations engaged in by certain members of Bank of
America’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk and transcriptions thereof). The DOJ’s
position is reflected in its recent request for a partial stay of these proceedings. Any

references herein to the contents of audiotapes obtained from Bank of America’s




Municipal Derivatives trading desk are based not on the tapes themselves, but on
information from Bank of America that summarized their contents.

5. This lawsuit arises out of an illegal agreement, understanding and
conspiracy among providers and brokers of Municipal Derivatives to not compete and to
rig bids for Municipal Derivatives sold to issuers of Municipal Bonds or other entities
that use the proceeds of issuances of Municipal Bonds. This illegal agreement,
understanding and conspiracy is based on per se illegal horizontal communications and
conduct among providers of Municipal Derivatives. These providers have engaged in
communications facilitating and conduct restraining competition such as rigging of bids,
secret compensation of losing bidders, courtesy bids, deliberately losing bids, and
agreements not to bid. Brokers have knowingly participated in this per se‘illegal
conspiracy to limit competition by acting as conduits for communication of pricing and
bidding information among providers with the knowledge and consent of providers and
have shared the wrongful profits from the illegal agreement to restrain competition.

6. There has been an unprecedented set of investigations by the DOJ’s
Antitrust Division, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS™), the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”), and, more recently, state attorneys general (“AGs”), into industry-
wide collusive practices in the two-hundred year old municipal bond industry. A grand
Jury investigation currently is being conducted by the Antitrust Division in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York. Over thirty large
commercial and investment banks, insurance companies, and brokers have been
subpoenaed, and the offices of three brokers have been raided by the Federal Bureau of

Investigation. Numerous employees and former employees of various Defendants




recently received letters notifying them that théy are regarded as targets of the grand jury
investigation concerning antitrust and other violations regarding contracts related to
municipal bonds.

7. Plaintiffs bring this action to seek civil redress for their injuries on
behalf of themselves and all state, local and municipal government entities and their
agencies, as well as private entities, that purchased by competitive bidding or auction
Municipal Derivatives in the United States and its territories directly from the Provider
Defendants (as defined below) and/or through Broker Defendants (as defined below) in
the period from January 1, 1992 through the present (the “Class Period™). This time
period tracks the time period of the DOJ’s investigation. At all relevant times, the
Provider Defendants and the Broker Defendants issued and/or sold Municipal
Derivatives. During the Class Period, Defendants and certain named and unnamed co-
conspirators agreed, combined, and conspired with each other to fix prices, and to rig
bids and allocate customers and markets of Municipal Derivatives sold in the United
States and its territories. As a result of the unlawful conduct of Defendants and named
and unnamed co-conspirators, Plaintiffs and the Class (as defined in this Complaint)
received, inter alia, lower interest rates on these contracts than they would have in a
competitive market, and paid ancillary fees and other costs and expenses related thereto.
Plaintiffs have consequently suffered injury to their business and property.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8.  This action is instituted under Sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15
U.S.C. §§ 15 and 26, to recover treble damages and the costs of this suit, including

reasonable atforneys’ fees, against Defendants for the injuries sustained by Plaintiffs and



the members of the Class by reason of the violations, as hereinafter alleged, of Section 1
of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1.

9. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337, and
Sections 4 and 16 of the Claytoh Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15(a) and 26.

10. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Sections 4, 12, and 16 of the
Clayton Act, 15 U.8.C. §§ 15, 22, and 26, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b), (c) and (d), because
during the Class Period the Defendants resided, transacted business, were found, or had
agents in this District, because a substantial portion of the affected interstate trade and
commerce described herein is and has been carried out in this District, and because overt
acts in furtherance of the alleged conspiracy were undertaken in this District.

PLAINTIFFS

11, Plaintiff City of Baltimore, Maryland (“Baltimore™) purchased one or
more Municipal Derivatives from at least one Provider Co-Conspirator or co-conspirator
and/or through at least one Broker Defendant or co-conspirator during the Class Period.

12. Plaintiff University of Mississippi Medical Center purchased one or
more Municipal Derivatives from at least one Provider Defendant or co-conspirator
and/or through at least one Broker Defendant or co-conspirator during the Class Period.

13. Plaintiff University of Southern Mississippi purchased one or more
Municipal Derivatives from at least one Provider Defendant or co-conspirator and/or
through at least one Broker Defendant or co-conspirator during the Class Period.

14. - Plaintiff Mississippi Department of Transportation purchased one or
more Municipal Derivatives from at least one Provider Defendant or co-conspirator

and/or through at least one Broker Defendant or co-conspirator during the Class Period.




15. Plaintiff University of Mississippi purchased one or more Municipal
Derivatives from at least one Provider Defendant or co-conspirator and/or through at least
one Broker Defendant or co-conspirator during the Class Period.

16. The entities identified in the four preceding paragraphs are referred to
collectively as the “Mississippi Plaintiffs.” All of the Mississippi Plaintiffs are agencies,
subdivisions or instrumentalities of the State of Mississippi, which previously filed an
action relating to these same claims,

17. Plaintiff Central Bucks School District (“Central Bucks™) purchased
one or more Municipal Derivatives from at least one Provider Defendant or co-
conspirator. and/or through at least one Broker Defendant or co-conspirator during the
Class Period.

18. Plaintiff Bucks County Water & Sewer Authority purchased one or
more Municipal Derivatives from at least one Provider Defendant or co-conspirator
and/or through at least one Broker Defendant or co-conspirator during the Class Period.

19. The entities identified in the two preceding paragraphs are referred to
collectively as the “Bucks County Plaintiffs.”

PROVIDER DEFENDANTS

20. The entities listed below (along with Natixis Funding Corp. f/k/a IXIS
Funding Corp, and before that, f/k/a CDC Funding Corp., to the extent it acted as a
provider with respect to Municipal Derivatives) are collectively referenced herein as
“Provider Defendants.”

21. Provider Defendant Bank of America, N.A. is a Delaware corporation

with its principal place of business in Charlotte, North Carolina. During the Class Period,



Bank of America issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to members of the Class. Bank
of America transacts business in the Southern District of New York.

22, Provider Defendant Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc. (“Bear Stearns™) was a
Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in New York, New York.
During the Class Period, Bear Stearns issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to members
of the Class. In March of 2008, Bear Stearns was acquired by Defendant JP Morgan
Chase & Co. Bear Stearns is now a division of JP Morgan Chase & Co., but still operates
a Municipal Bond Department and a Municipal Derivatives trading desk. See <
http://'www bearstearns.com/sitewide/institutions/fixed_income/municipal_debt/index.
htm>,

23. Provider Defendant JP Morgan Chase & Co. (“JP Morgan™) is a
Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in New York, New York.
During the Class Period, JP Morgan issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to members
of the Class.

24, Provider Defendant Morgan Stanley (“Morgan Stanley™) is a Delaware
corporation Wiﬂ’l‘itS principal place of business in New York, New York. During the
Class Period, Morgan Stanley issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to members of the
Class.

25. Provider Defendant National Westminster Bank ple (“NatWest™) is a
public limited company with its principal place of business in London, England. During
the Class Period, NatWest issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to members of the

Class. NatWest is a subsidiary of the Royal Bank of Scotland.



26. Provider Defendant Piper Jaffray & Co. (“Piper Jaffray”) is a Delaware
corporation with its principal place of business in Minneapolis, Minnesota. During the
Class Period, Piper Jaffray issued and sold Municipal Derivativ;as to members of the
Class. Piper Jaffray also provided brokerage functions to issuers.

27. Provider Defendant Société Générale SA (“Société Généraie.’.’;{s a
French corporation with its principal place of business in Paris, France. During the Class
Period, Société Générale issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to members of the Class.

28. Provider Defendant UBS AG (“UBS™) is a Swiss corporation with its
principal place of business in Zurich, Switzerland. During the Class Period, UBS issued
and sold Municipal Derivatives to members of the Class. In 2000, UBS merged with
PaineWebber.

29, Provider Defendant Wachovia Bank N.A. (“Wachovia”) was a national
chartered banking association with its principal place of business in Charlotte, North
Carolina. During the Class Period, Wachovia issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to
members of the Class. On December 31, 2008, Wells Fargo & Co. acquired Wachovia, as
reflected in the former’s SEC Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2009.

30. Provider Defendant Wells Fargo & Co., Inc. (“Wells Fargo™) is a
diversified financial services company with its headquarters in San Francisco, California.

- Wells Fargo is sued herein as the successor in interest to Wachovia, having acquired the
assets and liabilities of the latter in the aforementioned transaction that closed on
December 31, 2008. Wells Fargo’s most recent Form 10-Q lists the present action under

pending “Legal Actions.”




BROKER DEFENDANTS

31, The entities listed below (along with Piper Jaffray, to the extent it
performed brokerage services relating to Municipal Derivatives) are collectively referred
to herein as “Broker Defendants.”

32. Broker Defendant Natixis Funding Corp. f/k/a IXIS Funding Corp, and
before that, f/k/a CDC Funding Corp. (“CDC”) is a New York corporation with its
principal place of business in New York, New York. During the Class Period, CDC
acted as a broker for members of the Class in purchasing Municipal Derivatives from the
Provider Defendants. CDC also functioned on some deals as a Provider, and to the extent
it did so, is also referenced herein as one of the Provider Defendants.

33, Broker Defendant Investment Management Advisory Group, Inc.
(“IMAGE”) is a Pennsylvania corporation_ with its principal place of business in
Pottstown, Pennsylvania. During the Class Period, IMAGE acted as a broker for
members of the Class in purchasing Municipal Derivatives from the Provider Defendants.

34. Broker Defendant CDR Financial Products (“CDR™) is a California
corporation with its principal place of business in Beverly Hills, California. During the
Class Period, CDR acted as a broker for members of the Class in purchasing Municipal
Derivatives from the Provider Defendants.

35. Broker Defendant Winters & Co. Advisors, LLC (“Winters™) is a
California limited liability company with its principal place of business in Los Angeles,
California. During the Class Period, Winters acted as a broker for members of the Class
in purchasing Municipal Derivatives from the Provider Defendants.

36. Broker Defendant George K. Baum & Co. (“Baum™) is a Missouri |
corporation with its principal place of business in Kansas City, Missouri. During the
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Class Period, Baurn acted as a broker for members of the Class in purchasing Municipal
Derivatives from the Provider Defendants.

37. Broker Defendant Sound Capital Management, Inc, (“Sound Capital™)
' is a Minnesota corporation with its principal place of business i_n Eden Prairie,
Minnesota. During the Class Period, Sound Capital acted as a broker for members of the
Class in purchasing Municipal Derivatives from the Provider Defendants.

NAMED AND UNNAMED CO-CONSPIRATORS

38. Various other persons, firms and corporations, not named herein as a
Provider Defendant or Broker Defendant have participated as co-conspirators with the
Provider Defendants and/or the Broker Defendants and have performed acts and made
statements in furtherance of the conspiracy. Some of these firms are as yet unidentified.
Others that have been identified are as follows.

39. Provider co-conspirator AIG Financial Products Corp. (“AlG
Financial™) is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in New York,
New York. During the Class Period, AIG Financial issued and sold Municipal
Derivatives to members of the Class,

40. Provider co-conspirator SunAmerica Life Assurance Co.
(*SunAmerica™) is an Arizona corporation with its principal place of business in Los
Angeles, California. During the Class Period, SunAmerica issued and sold Municipal
Derivatives to members of the Class.

41. Provider co-conspirator Financial Security Assurance Holdings, Ltd.
(“FSAHL”) is a New York corporation with its principal place of business in New York,
New York. During the Class Period, FSAHL issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to
members of the Class.
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42, Provider co-conspirator Financial Security Assurance, In¢c. (“FSAI”) is
a New York corporation with its principal place of business in New York, New York.
During the Class Period, FSAI issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to members of the
Class. FSAI and FSAHL are referred to collectively herein as “FSA.”

43. Provider co-conspirator Trinity Funding Co. LLC (*“GE Trinity™), a
member of the GE Funding Capital Market Services Group (GE Funding CMS), is a New
York limited liability corporation with its principal place of business in New York, New
York. During the Class Period, Trinity issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to
members of the Class.

44, Provider co-conspirator GE Funding Capital Market Services, Inc. \
(“GE Funding”), a member of the GE Funding Capital Market Services Group (GE
Funding CMS), is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in New
York, New York. During the Class Period, GE Funding issued and sold Municipal
Derivatives to members of the Class.

45. Provider co-conspirator Lehman Brothers (“L.ehman™) is a Delaware
corporation with its principal place of business in New York, New York. During the
Class Period, Lehman issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to members of the Class.
Lehman filed for bankruptcy in September of 2008.

46. Provider co-conspirator XL Capital Ltd. (“XI. Capital™) is a Bermuda
corporation with its principal place of business in Hamilton, Bermuda. During the Class
Period, X1, Capital issued and sold Municipal Derivatives to members of the Class.

47. Provider co-conspirator XL Asset Funding Co. I LLC (“XL Asset

Funding”) is a limited liability company with its principal place of business in
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Schaumburg, Ilinois. During the Class Period, XL Asset Funding issued and sold
Municipal Derivatives to members of the Class.

48. Provider co-conspirator XL Life Insurance & Annuity, Inc. (“XL Life
Insurance™) is a subsidiary of XL Life & Annuity Holding Co. with its principal place of
business in Schaumburg, Illinois. During the Class Period, XL Life Insurance 1ssued and
sold Municipal Derivatives to members of the Class. XL Capital, XL Asset Funding and
XL Life Insurance are referred to coliectively herein as “XL.”

49, The Provider entities identified in the preceding paragraphs are referred
to collectively as the “Provider co-conspirators.”

50. Broker co-conspirator Feld Winters Financial LLC (“Feld Winters”) is
a California l_imitéd liability company with its principal place of business in Sherman
QOaks, California. During the Class Period, Feld Winters acted as a broker for members
of the Class in purchasing Municipal Derivatives from the Provider Defendants and the
Provider co-conspiratdrs.

51. Broker co-conspirator First Southwest Company (“First Southwest™) is
a corporation with its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas. During the Class
Period, First Southwest acted as a broker for members of the Class in purchasing
Municipal Derivatives from the Provider Defendants and the Provider co-conspirators.

52. Broker co-conspirator Kinsell Newcomb & De Dios Inc. (“Kinsell”) is
a California corporation with its principal place of business in Carlsbad, California.
During the Class Period, Kinsell acted as a broker for members of the Class in purchasing

Municipal Derivatives from the Provider Defendants and the Provider co-conspirators.
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53. Broker co-conspirator Mesirow Financial (“Mesirow™) is an Illinois
corporation with its principal place of business in Chicago, Illinois. During the Class
Period, Mesirow acted as a broker for members of the Class in purchasing Municipal
Derivatives from the Provider Defendants and the Provider co-conspirators.

54, Broker co-conspirator Morgan Keegan & Co., Inc. (“Morgan Keegan™),
a subsidiary of Regions Financial Corp., is a Tennessee corporation with its principal
place of business in Memphis, Tennessee. During the Class Period, Morgan Keegan
acted as a broker for members of the Class in purchasing Municipal Derivatives from the
Provider Defendants and the Provider co-conspirators.

55. Broker co-conspirator PackerKiss Securities, Inc. (“PackerKiss™) is a
Florida corporation, with its principal place of business in Delray Beach, Florida. During
the Class Period, PackerKiss acted as a broker for members of the Class in purchasing
Municipal Derivatives from the Provider Defendants and the Provider co-conspirators.

56. The Broker entities identified in the preceding paragraphs are referred
to collectively as the “Broker co-conspirators.”

57. Whenever in this Complaint reference is made to any act, deed or
transaction of any corporation or entity, the allegation means that the corporation or
entity engaged in the act, deed or transaction by or through its officers, directors, agents,
employees or representatives while they were activély engaged in the management,
direction, control or transaction of the corporation or entity’s business or affairs.

DEFINITIONS AND BACKGROUND

MUuNICIPAL BONDS

58. Municipal bonds are issued by states, cities, and counties, or their

agencies, as well as by tax-exempt, non-profit private entities (collectively “issuers™) to
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raise funds for various types of large public projects, including, for example, the
construction and repair of roads, buildings, mass transit, water treatment plants, and
power plants. Because of the tax-exempt status of most municipal bonds, investors
usually accept lower interest payments than on other types of borrowing. This makes the
issuance of bonds an attractive source of financing to many government and private
entities, as the borrowing rate available in the tax free municipal bond market is
frequently lower than what is available through other channels.

59, Municipal bonds bear interest at either a fixed or variable rate of
interest. The issuer of a municipal bond receives a cash payment at the time of issuance
in exchange for a promise to repay the investors who provide the cash payment (the bond
holder) over time. Repayment periods typically span at least several years,

60. In order for municipal bonds to maintain their tax-exempt status, IRS
regulations governing the bonds generally require all money raised by a bond sale to be
spent oﬁ one-time capital projects within three to five years of issuance.

6l. Municipal bond proceeds typically are put into three types of funds to
serve their purpose within the anticipated life of the project. The largest type of fund is
known as the project fund or construction fund and, as its name implies, is used to pay for
the construction or public works project at hand. The two smaller types of funds are
administrative in nature, and ensure that the project fund is adequately funded and that
the investors recoup their investment. The debt service fund, or “sinking fund,” contains
the money uséd to make principal and interest payments on the bond. The payments out

of this fund usually are due semi-annually, although the principal portion of the payment
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may only be due..annually. The debt service reserve fund ensures that if unforeseen
contingencies occur, debt obligations can still be paid.

62, Because municipal bonds typically are used to fund multi-year projects,
most of a given bond’s proceeds cannot or need not be spent in one lump sum. Rather,
the proceeds are spent at regularly set intervals, and are invested to earn interest until they
are put to use for their stated purpose.

63. The municipal bond industry is extremely large. Approximately $385
billion worth of municipal bonds were issued in 2006, according to the Securities
Industry and Financial Markets Association. The total United States municipal bond
market itself presently is valued at approximately $2.6 trillion.

MUNICIPAL DERIVATIVES

64. The investment vehicles in which issuers or these who receive money
from bond issuances invest their bond proceeds until they are ripe for use are known as
Municipal Derivatives. - “Municipal Derivatives™ is an umbrella term that refers to a
variety of tax-exempt vehicles that government entities use to invest the proceeds of bond
offerings while they are waiting to spend them for their given purposes. The term has
been used in. the industry to describe swaps and related transactions (as defined below)
and, on occasion, the various types of Guaranteed Investment Contracts (as also defined
below). As used in this Complaint, the term encompasses all of the transactions described
in the next twelve paragraphs.

65. Municipal Derivatives are provided by highly rated insurance
companies and large commercial and investment banks, and they typically are sold to

government entities. Municipal Derivatives are a particularly favored form of investment
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in the municipal bond industry because they are considered safe and reliable investment
vehicles.

66. When governmental or private non-profit entities desire to purchase
Municipal Derivatives (i.e., enter into Municipal Derivative contracts), they frequently
will engage a broker to obtain the best possible price for such derivatives by arranging an
auction among multiple providers of Municipal Derivatives.

67. Municipal Derivatives are grouped generally into two categories,
pertaining either to: (a) the investment of bond proceeds, or (b) the bond’s underlying
interest rate obligations. The former category of Municipal Derivatives includes
instruments such as Guaranteed Investment Contracts, commonly known as GICs
(forward purchase, supply, or delivery agreements and repurchase agreements) and
certificates of deposit (“CDs™) on escrow agreements. The latter category of Municipal
Derivatives includes instruments such as Swaps, Options, “Swaptions,” Collars, and
Floors, which are risk-shifting vehicles.

68. A GIC is an agreement secured by a contract with a financial institution
(i.e., a provider), which guarantees a fixed rate of return and a fixed date of maturity.
GICs also can mean any unallocated group contract, investment contract, funding
agreement, guaranteed interest contract or other similar instrument in which a provider
agrees to guarantee a fixed or variable rate of interest or a future payment that is based on
an index or similar criteria that is payable at a predetermined date on monies that are

deposited with the company.’ The types of investment agreements that the IRS generally

: Interest rates for Municipal Derivatives typically are calculated pursuant

to LIBCR or what were BMA rates. LIBOR refers to the London Interbank Offered
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references as GICs are: (a) Forward Purchase or Forward Delivery Agreements; (b)
Repurchase Agreements or Collateralized GICs; and (c) Unsecured or Uncollateralized
GICs.

69. A Forward Purchase or Forward Delivery Agreement is often used in
connection with debt service funds. Issuers (i e. municipalities and other nonprofit
entities authorized to issue bonds) can request bids based on rate of return or on upfront
payments, although the latter is the norm. This is an agreement wherein the buyer and
seller agree to settle their respective obligations at some specified future date based upon
the current market price at the time the contract is executed. Forward contracts are
generally entered into in the over-the-counter markets. A forward contract may be used
for any number of purposes. For example, a forward contract may provide for the
delivery of specific types of securities on !speciﬁed future dates at fixed yields for the
purpose of optimizing the investment of a debt sefvice reserve fund. A forward
refunding is used where the bonds to be refunded are not permittéd to be advance
refunded on a tax-exempt basis under the Internal Revenue Code. In such a case, the
issuer agrees to issue, and the underwriter agrees to purchase, the new issue of bonds on a
future date that would effect a current refunding.

70. An Unsecured or Uncollateralized GIC does not involve associated
securities, but rather pure funds, and thus functions like a savings account. It is used

most often for construction or project funds. In the bidding process, the issuer sets forth a

Rate, the standard rate for quoting interbank lendings of Eurodollar deposits, while BMA
refers to the Bond Market Association Index. The BMA Index has more recently been
superseded by the SIFMA (Security Industry & Financial Markets Association) Index,
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proposed draw-down schedule in situations where it wants to spend all of the bond
proceeds, for example, within a three-year period. These agreements typically have
terms addressing flexibility issues regarding, for example, requirements to pay or not pay
penalties for not meeting deadlines, such as construction benchmarks.

71. A Repurchase Agreement or “Collateralized GIC” is an agreement
consisting of two simultaneous transactions whereby the issuer purchases securities from
a provider, and the provider agrees to repurchase the securities on a certain future da_té at
a price that produces an agreed-upon rate of return. This is known as a collateralized
GIC because the issuer possesses securities as collateral for the GIC until the maturity
date.

72. When bonds are issued to refinance a prior issue, and principal or
interest on the prior issue will be paid more than 90 days after issuance of the new
refunding bonds, the new bonds will be considered an “advance refunding” of the prior
bonds. Proceeds of such an issue are generally invested in an advance refunding escrow
to be used to pay principal and interest on, and redemption price of, the prior bonds.
Under the arbitrage provisions of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code, proceeds of
the refunding issue invested in the advance refunding escrow generally may not be
invested at yield that is higher than the yield on the refunding issue. It is not always
possible to have the investments in the escrow maturing on precisely the same dates that
amounts will be needed to pay principal or interest on the prior bonds, so amounts
potentially will sit un-invested in the escrow for such periods of time. In order to avoid
this inefficiency, the issuer may enter into a forward float agreement with an investment

provider, under which the issuer typically will receive an up-front payment in exchange
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for giving the investment provider the right to invest the proceeds during the float
periods. The up-front payment received by the issuer must be taken into account in
computing the yield on the advance refunding escrow for purposes of the arbitrage rules.

73. A Swap is a type of agreement frequently used with respect to the
exchange of interest rate obligations. A swap may be used to achieve desired tax results,
or to alter various features of a bond portfolio, including call protection, diversification or
consolidation, and marketability of holdings. There are several types of swaps: (a)
floating-for-fixed interest swap; (b) fixed-for-floating interest swap; and (c) floating-for-
{loating (basis-rate) swap, where the two are based on different indices (i.e., LIBOR or
BMA).

74. An Option is a provision in a bond contract where the Provider has the

right, on specified dates after required notification, to cancel or terminate a Municipal

Derivative.
75. A “Swaption” is the combination of a Swap and an Option.
76. A Floor (also known as an “interest rate floor”) is an agreement

whereby .the issuer agrees to pay a stated rate of interest even if the actual rate on the
variable rate debt is lower. The interest rate floor agreement is entered into with a third-
party who typically pays the issuer an upfront fee in exchange for the right to collect the
difference between the interest rate floor and the actual lower rate on the debt. It is used
typically on variable rate debt, and refers to the minimum interest rate that can be paid on
the debt. Thus, a Floor agreement establishes, for an issuer of variable rate bonds, a
minimum or “floor” rate of interest that the issuer will effectively pay, though the bonds

themselves may state a different minimum rate.
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77. A Collar is an agreement entered into by the issuer or obligor of
variable rate debt combining an interest rate cap and an interest rate floor. As witha
Floor agreement, the floor component of the Collar establishes the effective minimum
rate of interest that the issuer will pay. The cap component “caps” or establishes a
maximum rate of interest the issuer will effectively pay, which again may vary from the
maximum stated rate of interest on the variable rate debt.

78. Like the municipal bond industry, the Municipal Derivatives industry is
very large. A substantial portion of the approximately $400 billion annually spent on
municipal bonds is invested annually in Municipal Derivatives.

79. The Municipal Derivatives industry is relatively concentrated. There
are no more than 20 major providers of Municipal Derivatives in the United States. With
respect to GICs in particular, there are 10 to 12 major dealers in the United States. On
the other hand, the number of issuers is in the tens of thousands.

80. In a competitive marketplace, providers would be expected to compete
against each other for issuers’ business on the basis of the highest rate of return for
Municipal Derivatives that they could earn for issuers,

IRS RULES AND REGULATIONS

81. IRS rules and their corresponding regulations subject issuers to
potential taxation from arbitrage (i.e., profit) off of their tax-exempt bond proceeds,
subject to certain exceptions, See Internal Revenue Code § 148(a); Internal Revenue
Code §§ 148(c), (d) and (e) (enumerating exceptions to this principle). Specifically, if
the yield from the municipal derivative exceeds the bond’s yield by a certain amount, it
will be deemed arbitrage and be subject to taxation. In addition, providers cannot divert
arbitrage earnings, meaning that they cannot “burn” an otherwise drbitrage yield by
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charging the issuer a higher fee and reducing the yield by the amount of the fee in order
to comply with the rules.

82. The purpose of the rules and regulations governing arbitrage is to limit
issuers’ ability to take advantage of tax exempt rates on municipal bonds by investing the
bond proceeds at higher, non-tax exempt rates. The rules and regulations, therefore,
require all interest that exceeds the bond rate made on tax exempt bond investments to be
rebated to the IRS, absent an exception. ‘

83. Another group of IRS regulations sets forth the procedure for
establishing the fair market value of GICs. See Treasury Reg. § 1.148-5(d)(6). These
regulations govern the bidding process for GICs, and there is a rebuttable presumption
that a fair price‘is obtained for GICs procured in compliance with these regulations. Key

regulations include the following:

a. The bid specifications must be in writing;

b. The bid specifications must be timely forwarded to potential
providers;

C. The bid specifications must contain all material terms (i.e., the

term directly or indirectly affects yield);

d. The bid specifications must contain “a statement notifying
potenﬁal providers that submission of a bid is a representation that the potential
provider did not consult with any other potential provider about its bid, that the
bid was determined without regard to any other formal or informal agreement that

the potential provider has with the issuer or any other person (whether or not in
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connection with the bond issue), and that the bid is not b.eing submitted solely as a
courtesy to the issuer or any other person....” (Section 1.148-5(d)(6)(iii)(a)(3));

c. The bid specifications must be commercially reasonable;

- f There must be a legitimate business purpose for all terms in the bid

specifications other than solely to increase the price or reduce the yield,;

g. The bid specifications must contain a reasonably expected draw
down.schedule;

h. All potential providers must have an equal opportunity to bid, and
no potential provider can have a last look to review other bids before bidding;

and

i. The issuer must receive at least bids from at least “three reasonably
competitive providers” (Section 1.148-5(d)(6)(iii)(a)(7)).

84. The intent and purpose behind the TRS safe harbor regulations is to
provide a fair, competitive, and transparent process for issuers to obtain the best possible
price for tax-exempt municipal derivatives. But due to the concerted effort of the Broker
Defendants and Broker co-conspirators, the Provider Defendants and Provider co-
conspirators and unnamed co-conspirators during the Class Period to conspire to fix
prices, rig bids and allocate customers and markets — as opposed to competing— this

laudable goal was not realized.
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

OVERVIEW OF WRONGDOING ALLEGED

85. During the Class Period defined herein, the Provider Defendants and
Provider co-conspirators entered into a continuing agreement, understanding, and
conspiracy to unreasonably restrain trade and commerce in the United States, in violation
of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1.

86. In particular, the Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators
have combined and conspired to allocate customers and fix or stabilize the prices of
Municipal Derivatives, including the interest rates paid to issuers on such derivatives,
sold in the United States through agreements not to compete and acts of bid rigging.
Overt acts in furtherance of this conspiracy, including use of the mails or wires to
transmit and process rigged bids, were undertaken in this District.

87. The Broker Defendants and Broker co-conspirators have knowingly
participated in the illegal agreement, understanding, and conspiracy not to compete and to
rig bids in order to win the favor of the Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators
and share in the profits of the conspiracy, all in breach of their fiduciary and other duties
as agents for Plaintiffs and members of the class during the bidding process.

88. The objective of the alleged illegal agreement, understanding and
conspiracy is to artificially suppreés interest rates paid on, lower the value of, and reduce
and stabilize the market prices of, Municipal Derivatives sold by Provider Defendants
and Provider co-conspirators.

89, Plaintiffs and Bank of America have engaged in confidential
discussions about many of the facts and circumstances alleged in this Complaint, as noted

above. In addition to information supplied by Bank of Ameﬁ_ca, the allegations herein are
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supported by disclosures in connection with investigations being conducted by the DOJ’s
Auntitrust Division and the IRS into industry-wide collusive practices in the Municipal
Derivatives industry.”

90. Information concerning the workings of the alleged conspiracy has
been provided by a confidential witness formerly employed by Bank of America who is
cooperating with the DOJ in its antitrust investigation and whose identity has not been
revealed to Plaintiffs. This person shall be referred to herein as “CW.” The information
provided by this witness gives only a partial picture of the workings of the alleged
conspiracy, but is illustrative of how it operated.

91. It is further known, as described below, that the extant audiotapes from
Bank of America’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk contain unlawful discussions with
its competitors regarding bid-rigging and customer allocation of Municipal Derivatives.
As Charles Anderson (“Anderson”), former field operations manager for the IRS’s tax-
exempt bond office, has said, “I have listened to tape recordings of bankers talking to
each other saying, ‘This law firm or lawyer will go along, they know what’s going on,
they’il give us an opinion.....” It might take a little time to unwind it all, but I think
we’ve only seen the tip of the iceberg. Ultimately, the same kinds of acts that give rise to
6700 [liability] can also give rise to criminal conspiracy counts against attorneys. [ would

not be surprised to see bankers and lawyers go to jail.”

2 The SEC is also conducting a parallel investigation that has led to Wells

notices recently being issued to Bank of America, GE Funding, UBS, FSA, JP Morgan,
Wachovia and Bear Stearns. A Wells notice informs a company that an investigation by
regulators is completed and charges may be filed.
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AGREEMENT AND CONSPIRACY T0 RiG Bips AND ALLOCATE CUSTOMERS

92. The Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators who knowingly
and intentionally engaged in these rigged auctions understood that they would take turns
providing the winning bid.

93, At times, as described below, the Provider Defendants and Provider co-
conspirators directly discussed with each other the terms of their bids and discussed their
collusive activities with Broker Defendants and broker co-conspirators.

94, One venue at which these discussions occurred consisted of the
respective Municipal Derivatives trading desks maintained by each of the Provider
Defendants and Provider co-conspirators. These trading desks were often located in the
same localities. For example, Bank of America, Wachovia and JP Morgan all maintained
municipal derivative trading desks in Charlotte, North Carolina. Other Provider
Defendants or Provider co-conspirators maintained such desks in New York City. E-
mails to and from these trading desks were sent routinely and telephonic conversations at
these trading desks were routinely audiotaped. Unlawful communications were
conducted among the Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators by other means
as well, such as cellular telephones, Blackberries and face-to-face meetings.

9s. On numerous other occasions, as described below, communications
among the Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators were made through one or
more of the Broker Defendants, who would act as the authorized go-betweens of the
Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators by communicating and coordinating
the terms of their respective bids. The Provider designated to win a particular

auction frequently bid after it had been provided with the terms of the bids provided by
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the other bidders, a practice known as a “last look™ that is expressly forbidden by IRS
regulations.

96. At times, one or more of the Provider Defendants and Provider co-
conspirators engaged in complementary trades to compensate other Providers Defendants
and Provider co-conspirators, who either did not submit bids or who engaged in the
provision of sham bids. On other occasions, the winning Provider, including at times one
or more of the Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators, would secretly
compensate one or more Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators for declining
to submit a bid.

97. The existence of the illégal agreement, understanding and conspiracy is
confirmed by per se illegal horizontal communications among marketing personnel
employed in the Municipal Derivative departments of the Provider Defendants. These
individuals have participated in direct communications with competitor providers with
respect to the following, inter alia:

a. the rigging of bids, including the collusive suppression of interest
rates paid to issuers on Municipal Derivatives;
b, conduct that would bé used to limit competition;
C. sharing of profits from a winning bid with a losing bidder and
other secret compensation of losing bidders;
d. bids that would be won by specific Provider Defendants and
Provider co-conspirators; and

€. an exchange of a deliberately losing bid for a future winning bid.
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98. The Broker Defendants and Broker co-conspirators’ knowing
participation in the illegal agreement, understanding and conspiracy not to compete and
to rig bids is established by their serving as a conduit for indirect communications among
the Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators that were per se illegal. Again,
overt acts in furtherance of this conspiracy, including, on information, use of the mails or
wires to transmit and process rigged bids, were undertaken in this District. The Provider
Defendants and Provider co-conspirators also shared their wrongful proﬁts from the
illegal agreement, understanding and conspiracy, by paying kickbacks to Broker
Defendants and Broker co-conspirators. The existence of the illegal agreement,
understanding and conspiracy is further established by per se illegal horizontal and
coordinated conduct among the marketing personnel employed in the municipal
bond/derivative departments of the Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators.
These individuals have participated in, inter alia, the following conduct to limit
competition, rig bids and to create the appearance of competition where there was none:

a. courtesy bids submitted to create the appearance of competition
where there was none;

b. bids known to be unrealistically low and deliberately losing bids;

C. bidding processes where only one bid was sufficiently high to
make the deal work;

d. agreements to share profits from a winning bid with a losing bidder
through transactions between Provider Defendants and co-

conspirators;
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e. conduct in violation of IRS regulations relating to the bidding

process;
f. secret last look agreements; and
g. agreements not to bid.

09, . The Broker Defendants and Broker co-conspirators’ knowing

participation in the illegal agreement, understanding and conspiracy not to compete and
to rig bids is also established by their participation in the per se illegal conduct to limit
competition, rig bids and to create the appearance of competition where there was none.
Broker Defendants and Broker co-conspirators further participated in and facilitated the
illegal agreement, understanding and conspiracy by acting as the conduits for passing
confidential pricing and bidding information among, and arranging the allocation of
winning bids among, the Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators, all with the
knowledge and consent of Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators. The
Broker Defendants and Broker co-conspirators further communicated to the Provider
Defendants and Provider co-conspirators concerning, inter alia:
a. winning bids that would be allocated to Provider Defendants and
co-conspirators,
b. confirming understandings that bids would be won by Provider
Defendants and Provider co-conspirators;
c. confirming understandings that bids would be lost by Provider
Defendants and Provider co-conspirators;

d. the fact that bids were being rigged; and
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c.

bid levels that would be necessary by Provider Defendants and

Provider co-conspirators to win or lose a bid.

PARTIAL LISTING OF INDIVIDUAL PARTICIPANTS IN THE ALLEGED CONSPIRACY

100,

Individuals employed by the Provider Defendants or Provider Co-

conspirators who have engaged in the illegal communications and conduct among

Provider Defendants and Provider co-conspirators to restrain competition include, but are

not limited to, the following. These individuals were not randomly selected from Provider

Defendants’ or Provider co-conspirators’ corporate directories, but are people who have

acknowledged that they are targets of DOJ prosecution and/or have been identified by

Bank of America as engaging in collusive conduct.

a.

Douglas Campbell (“Campbell”) was a former Bank of America

Municipal Derivatives sales team manager. He left the Bank of
America in August of 2002 and then worked for Piper Jaffray, with
whom he is no longer employed. Campbell had numerous
communications, with, inter alia, Jim Towne of Piper Jaffray,
Martin McConnell of Wachovia, Mark Zaino of UBS, Martin
Stallone of IMAGE, Johan Rosenberg of Sound Capital, Douglas
Goldberg of CDR, Dani Naeh of CDR and a Mr. Steinhauer of
Baum relating to the alleged conspiracy, as described below.
Campbell also authored the June 28, 2002 e-mail on kickbacks to
Piper Jaffray, CDR and Winters described below. The e-mail
indicates communications on this topic to Jim Towne. Campbell

participated in or oversaw unlawful collusive discussions with
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other Defendants and co-conspirators conducted from Bank of
America’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk or other venues.
Dean Pinard (“Pinard”) was a former manager of Bank of
America’s Municipal Derivatives department. He was put on
administrative leave by Bank of America on February 12, 2007.
Pinard participated in or oversa\%f unlawful collusive discussions
with other Defendants and co-conspirators conducted from Bank of
America’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk or other venues. He
was also the recipient of the March 11, 2002 e-mail from Phil
Murphy described below that discussed the provision of secret
kickbacks to IMAGE for its participation in the alleged conspiracy.
Philip Murphy (“Murphy”) was the former head managing director
of Bank of America’s Municipal Derivatives department and one
of the ringleaders of the alleged conspiracy. Murphy participated in
or oversaw unlawful collusive discussions with other Defendants
and co-conspirators conducted from Bank of Americé’s Municipal
Derivatives trading desk or other venues. Murphy had numerous
communications, with, infer alia, Martin Stallone of IMAGE, as
described below. Murphy was also the recipient of the
aforementioned May 11, 2002 e-mail regarding IMAGE and the
recipient of June 28, 2002 e-mail on kickbacks from Campbell
deséribed below. Murphy left Bank of America in September of

2002 and is now a principal at Winters, the website of which says
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that “[h]e is one of the pioneers of the municipal derivative and
investment agreement business having developed or improved
many of the structures being used in the market today.”

James Hertz (“Hertz”) worked at JP Morgan from 1998 until
December of 2007. He was former vice-president in JP Morgan’s
tax-exempt capital markets group. Along with Douglas MacFaddin
and. Samuel Gruer, he came over to JP Morgan from Chase Bank
and, along with them, assumed control over JP Morgan’s
Municipal Derivatives trading desk in 2000. His disclo.sures to the
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) indicate that
he was targeted by the DOJ for “conduct on the municipal
derivatives marketing desk.” Hertz participated in or oversaw
unlawful collusive discussions with other Defendants and co-
conspirators conducted from JP Morgan’s Mur‘licipal Derivatives
trading desk or other venues. JP Morgan fired Hertz after learning

he was a subject of the DOJ criminal investigation.

Stephen Salvadore (“Salvadore™) was Head of Municipal
Derivatives and Municipal Cash Trading at Bear Stearns. He
worked at Bear Stearns from 1999 to July of 2008. His disclosures
to FINRA state that he was fargeted by DOJ “concerning antitrust
and other violations involving contracts related to municipal
bonds.” Salvadore participated in or oversaw unlawful collusive

discussions with other Defendants and co-conspirators conducted
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from Bear Stearns’ Municipal Derivatives trading desk or other

yenucs.

Douglas MacFaddin (“MacFaddin™) was former head of cash

derivatives and marketing at JP Morgan. He took over JP
Morgan’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk, along with Hertz
and Samuel Gruer, in 2000, MacFaddin left JP Morgan in March
of 2008 after learning he was a subject of the DOJ criminal
investigation. His disclosures to FINRA indicate that he was
targeted by the DOJ for “conduct on the Municipal Derivatives
marketing desk.” MacFaddin participated in or oversaw unlawful
collusive discussions with other Defendants and co-conspirators
conducted from JP Morgan’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk
or other venues. MacFaddin also participated in illegal activity
with respect to Jefferson County, Alabama that is described below.
Jay Saunders (“Saunders™) worked in the Municipal Derivatives
marketing department at Bank of America from 1999 to 2003 and
then moved over to Wachovia, where he came to serve as director
of marketing for its derivatives department. Saunders left
Wachovia in July of 2008. His disclosures to FINRA state that he
was targeted by DOJ “concerning antitrust and other violations

| invon./ing contracts related to municipal bonds.” Saunders
participated in or oversaw unlawful collusive discussions with

other Defendants and co-conspirators conducted from Bank of
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America’s and Wachovia’s respective Municipal Derivatives
trading desk or other venues.

Martin McConnell (“McConnell”) worked with Saunders in the

Municipal Derivatives marketing department at Wachovia and
came to hold the position of Managing Director of marketing. He
worked at Wachovia from May of 2005 to July of 2008. His
disclosures to FINRA state that he was targeted by DOJ
“concerning antitrust and other violations involving contracts
related to municipal bonds.” Saunders participated in or oversaw
unlawful collusive discussions with other Defendants and co-
conspirators conducted from Wachovia’s Municipal Derivatives
trading desk or other venues. He participated in unlawful collusive
discussions with, infer alia, Campbell of Bank of America and
Martin Stallone of IMAGE, as described below.

Peter Ghavami (“Ghavami”) was the former Managing Director

and co-manager in UBS’s Municipal Derivatives group. He joined
UBS from JP Morgan and worked at UBS from .April of 1999 to
December of 2007. His disclosures to FINRA state that he was
targeted by DOJ “concerning antitrust and other violations
involving contracts related to municipal bonds.” Ghavami
participated in or oversaw unlawful collusive discussions with
other Defendants and co-conspirators conducted Wachovia’s

Municipal Derivatives trading desk or other venues.
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Patrick Marsh (“Marsh™) served as Senior Managing Director in
Municipal Finance Products at Bear Stearns until he left to join
Deutsche Bank in April of 2005. He disclosed to FINRA that the
DOJ has targeted him with respect to antitrust violations relating to
municipal bonds while at Bear Stearns and has also disclosed that
he is likely to be sued by the SEC for his conduct with respect to
such bonds while he was at Bear Stearns. Marsh participated in or
oversaw unlawful collusive discussions with other Defendants and
co-conspirators conducted from Bear Stearns’ Municipal
Derivatives trading desk or other venues.

Shlomi Raz (“Raz”) worked on structured credit and interest rate
derivative marketing at JP Morgan. He worked at JP Morgan from
July of 1996 to July of 2003, when he left to join Goldman Sachs.
His disclosures to FINRA state that he was targeted by DOJ
“concerning antitrust and other violations involving contracts
related to municipal bonds.” Raz participated in or oversaw
unlawful collusive discussions with other Defendants and co-
conspirators conducted JP Morgan’s Municipal Derivatives trading
desk or other venues.

Samuel Gruer (“Gruer™) was a former vice-president in JP
Morgan’s tax-exempt capital markets group. He took over JP
Morgan’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk, along with Hertz

and MacFaddin, in 2000. He worked at JP Morgan from February
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of 2000 until June of 2006, when he left to go to Deutsche Bank.
Gruer disclosed to FINRA that the DOJ has targeted him with
respect to antitrust violations relating to municipal bonds while at
JP Morgan. Gruer participated in or oversaw unlawful collusive
discussions with other Defendants and co-conspirators conducted
from JP Morgan’s Municipal Derivati;ves trading desk or other
venues. Gruer had discussions with, infer alia, Martin Stallone of
IMAGE and the CW, as described below.

Robert Taylor (“Taylor”) was a trader of Municipal Derivatives at
Lehman. He participated, inter alia, in discussions with Martin
Stallone of IMAGE relating to the alleged conspiracy, as described
below.

James Towne (“Towne”) was the former Managing Director of-
Piper Jaffray’s Municipal Derivatives group. He worked at Piper
Jaffray from 1996 to January of 2008. His disclosures to FINRA
state that he was targeted by DOJ “concerning antitrust and other
violations involving contracts related to municipal bonds.” Towne
participated in or oversaw unlawful collusive discussions with
other Defendants and co-conspirators conducted from Piper
Jaffray’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk or other venues.
These included many unlawful discussions with Campbell, among
others. In addition, Campbell’s June 28, 2002 e-mail on kickbacks

to Piper Jaffray, CDR and Winters described below indicates
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communications that Towne had discussions on this topic with
Campbell and Bank of America.

0. Mark Zaino (“Zaino™) worked on UBS’s Municipal Derivatives
trading desk until he left the company in 2007. He had collusive
discussions with, inter alia, Campbell, as described below. Zaino
participated in or oversaw unlawful collusive discussions with
other Defendants and co-conspirators conducted from UBS’s
Municipal Derivatives trading desk or other venues.

101. Individuals employed by the Broker Defendants or Broker Co-
conspirators who have engaged in the illegal agreement, understanding and conspiracy
include the following. These individuals were not randomly selected from Broker
Defendants’ or Broker co-conspirators’ corporate directories, but are people who have
acknowledged that they are targets of DOJ prosecution and/or have been identified by
Bank of America as engaging in collusive conduct. |

a. David Lail (“Lail”) worked in Baum’s Municipal Derivatives
department. He was a kickback recipient with respect to the blind
pool deals with CDC that are described below.

b. Mary Packer (“Packer™) is president of PackerKiss, where she has
worked since July of 2003. Her disclosures to FINRA state that she
was targeted by DOJ “regarding certain matters involving

transactions related to municipal bonds.”

c. Martin Stallone (“Stallone™), who joined IMAGE in 1999, is its

' Managing Director. Stalione had various communications with,
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inter alia, Murphy, Campbell, the CW, Gruer, Marsh, McConnell,
and Taylor relating to the alleged conspiracy, as described below.

d. Johan Rosenberg (“Rosenberg”} is now President of, and was

formerly a Vice-President of, Sound Capital. Rosenberg had
various communications with, inter alia, Campbell and the CW
relating to the alleged conspiracy, as described below.

e. Michael Frasco (“Frasco™) is a Managing Director at Natixis,

formerly CDC, with responsibilities for Municipal Derivatives.
Frasco had various communications with, infer alia, the CW, as
described below.

f. Douglas Goldberg (“Goldberg™) was a Senior Vice-President at

CDR with responsibilities for Municipal Derivatives before
leaving to join Deutsche Bank in September of 2006. Goldberg had
numerous discussions with, inter alia, Campbell and the CW, as
described below. His most recent FINRA disclosure indicates that
he is under investigation.

g. Dani Naeh (“Naeh”) worked on Municipal Derivatives at CDR
until 2004, when he left to become a Managing Partner at ICS
Venture Group Ltd. Naeh had discussions with, inter alia, the CW,
as described below.

EXAMPLES OF THE COORDINATION OF COLLUSIVE BIDDING THROUGH BROKERS

102. The CW learned of the aforementioned collusive conduct after he
joined Bank of America’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk in April of 1999 on the
recommendation of executives from Broker Defendant IMAGE. He discussed his sphere
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of operations with Bank of America’s Murphy and Campbell, who assigned him to work
with IMAGE. In his work on Bank of America’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk, the
CW dealt primarily with Stallone.

103. Other traders at the Bank of America Municipal Derivatives trading
desk worked with other brokers and providers in close proximity to the CW. Campbell,
for example, worked with Towne of Piper Jaffray and Goldberg of CDR, among others.
Within earshot of others, Murphy, Campbell, and other traders often changed the Bank of
America’s bids on transactions in response to information supplied by a Provider
Defendant, a Broker Defendant, a Provider co-conspirator, or a Broker co-conspirator
about competing bids by other providers. Murphy suggested to the CW that IMAGE
would do the same for him. The CW conveyed this suggestion to Stallone, who was
receptive to it.

104, Often, the traders on Bank of America’s Municipal Derivatives trading
desk knew ahead of time if the Bank of America would get a deal. The traders understood -
that on some deals, a provider other than Bank of America would win, but also knew that
the Bank of America would make it up on other deals where it was agreed that it would
be the winning bidder. Bank of America’s traders understood that other Provider
Defendants and Provider co-conspirators operated with a similar understanding. Murphy
monitored the CW’s work and expressed dissatisfaction if the CW did not know who
would win a trade before it was bid. The collusive practices continued, however, even
after Murphy was no longer employed by Bank of America.

105. The CW and other members of Bank of America’s trading desk used

various verbal cues to rig bids. One approach used by the CW was to ask if the Bank of
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America’s bid was a “good fit,” in order to elicit from Stallone information on competing
bids. Sometimes Stallone would say the Bank of America’s bid was “aggressive” and had
to be reworked to conform to the conspiratorially-set bid range. At other times, Stallone
would ask the CW to get the Bank of America to a specific number, which was intended
to be in furtherance of the alleged conspiracy. Stallone would also say that Bank of
America could get more out of a particular deal if it would include a specified brokerage
fee—a kickback to IMAGE for steering business to it. On occasion, if Stallone were
unavailable, the CW would deal with Peter Loughead (“Loughead™) of IMAGE.

106. If Bank of America desired to be the prearranged winning bidder on a
deal, the CW would tell Stallone it “really wanted to win that trade™ or had an “axe” for
that deal. Often, Stallone helped Bank of America on deals where the latter introduced
IMAGE to the issuer and got it hired as a broker.

107. Stallone would also provide information to the CW about competing
bids, sayi.ng how other providers saw the market or indicating that “the market was
around here” or stating that another company “was working a long time on this and they
see the market here” or promising that “I will call you when I get the market.”

108. In addition to allowing the Provider Defendants and Provider co-
conspirators to rig bids and allocate customers, the use of sham courtesy bids was
important to ostensibly meet the IRS’s safe harbor requirement of bids from at least three
“reasonably competitive” providers, as described above. Stallone would often ask the
CW to provide a courtesy bid where it was expected beforehand that Bank of America
would not win. Likewise, there exists an audiotape of a conversation between Campbell

and Towne of Piper Jaffray, where the latter told the former that JP Morgan wanted to
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win the trade in question and therefore wanted a courtesy bid from Bank of America that
the bank could furnish after first being apprised of JP Morgan’s bid. Towne specifically
asked Campbell to adjust Bank of America’s numbers to be closer and inferior to JP
Morgan’s bid.

109. The CW also was told by Stallone that the latter had requested and
obtained courtesy bids from NatWest. Oﬁ at least one occasion, Stallone told the CW that
Bank of America should back down from a trade because it was slated to go to NatWest.

110. Similarly, Stallone told the CW at one point that he would get
McConnell of Wachovia to submit a courtesy bid.

111. In another instance, Stallone said Taylor of Lehman was willing to
submit a sham bid on business it did not want.

112, At one point, the CW met Frasco of CDC at the Plaza Hotel. Frasco
said CDC had submitted bids on business it had no expectation of winning.

113. The CW had collusive communications with Rosenberg of Sound
Cap{tal. On one deal, Rosenberg advised the CW of where Bank of America needed to be
in order to win the trade. Rosenberg had a practice of soliciting sham bids from Bank of
America’s Municipal Derivatives trading desk.

1 1‘4. Audiotapes from Bank of America’s trading desk confirm other
examples where the bank was solicited to provide collusive sham bids. In one instance,
Campbell told Goldberg of CDR that Bank of America was willing to make a bid even
though it was not interested in the transaction in question and had no intention of winning

the bid. Bank of America often engaged in similar conduct at the request of other
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Defendants, including Piper Jaffray, IMAGE and Sound Capital and continued to do so
after Campbell and Murphy left its employ. |

115, Defendants or co-conspirators like Bank of America, UBS, L.ehman,
Wachovia, CDC and JP Morgan also received “last looks™ that were in order to further
their collusive bidding practices. In one taped conversation between Campbell and
Towne of Piper Jaffray, Towne stated that he gave Morgan Stanley an opportunity to
lower its bid on a transaction through such a “last look.”

116. One set of trades the CW worked on involved CDs on escrow accounts
for Pennsylvania school districts and other entities, transactions about which Murphy and
Campbell were fully briefed. Stallone told the CW that he would get sham courtesy bids
from Wachovia, Lehman and JP Morgan, who had no expectations of winning these
deals. Bank of America won the first ten deals. Then Stallone directed that Bank of
America make a courtesy bid so that JP Morgan could win some deals. As these trades
developed, Stallone would tell the CW if JP Morgan or Bank of America would be
winning a bid. On several occasions, Stallone said that a particular deal needed to go to
JP Morgan. Stallone at one point told the CW that JP Morgan understood that it had just
won a big transaction and that Bank of America wanted this one. Stallone’s contact at JP
Morgan on these transactions was Gruer. Gruer reported to MacFaddin of JP Morgan and
worked with Raz and Hertz of JP Morgan,

117. The issuing entities involved in some of these transactions involving
CDs on escrow accounts included, infer alia, the North Penn School District; the
Cameron School District; the Downington Area School District; the Avonworth School

District; the Camegie Borough Schooel District; the Tyne-Richland School District; the
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